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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS 

 
 
FRED KELSEY, Individually and on Behalf of 
All Others Similarly Situated, 
 

Plaintiff, 
 

vs. 
 

PATRICK J. ALLIN, JILLIAN SHEEHAN, 
and TEXTURA CORPORATION, 
 

Defendants. 
 

 
Case No. 1:14-cv-07837 
 
Honorable Robert W. Gettleman 
 
CLASS ACTION 
 
DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 

 
AMENDED COMPLAINT FOR VIOLATION OF THE FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS 

 Lead Plaintiff Fred Kelsey (“Plaintiff”), individually and on behalf of all other persons 

similarly situated, by his undersigned attorneys, for his Amended Complaint (“Complaint”) 

against Defendants, alleges the following based upon personal knowledge as to himself and his 

own acts, and information and belief as to all other matters, based upon, inter alia, the 

investigation conducted by and through his attorneys, which included, among other things, a 

review of the Defendants’ public documents, United States Securities and Exchange Commission 

(“SEC”) filings, and information readily obtainable on the Internet.  Plaintiff believes that 

substantial evidentiary support will exist for the allegations set forth herein after a reasonable 

opportunity for discovery.   

NATURE OF THE ACTION 

1. This is a federal securities class action on behalf of a class consisting of all 

persons other than Defendants who purchased the common stock of Textura Corporation 

(“Textura” or the “Company”) between June 7, 2013 and September 29, 2014 (the “Class 

Period”), inclusive, seeking to recover damages caused by Defendants’ violations of federal 
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securities laws and pursue remedies under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange 

Act”). Excluded from the Class are: (a) persons who suffered no compensable losses, e.g., those 

who bought Textura securities during the Class Period but sold prior to any corrective disclosure; 

and (b) Defendants, the officers and directors of the Company, at all relevant times, members of 

their immediate families and their legal representatives, heirs, successors or assigns and any 

entity in which Defendants has or had a controlling interest. 

2. Textura purports to be a business software company focused on commercial 

construction.  Throughout the Class Period, Textura generated the vast majority of its revenue 

from its Construction Payment Management (“CPM”) product, which is essentially an electronic 

invoicing and payment systems that integrates billing, claims, lien waiver collections, and the 

like, between the general contractor of a construction project and its various subcontractors. 

3. On a commercial construction project, Textura earned fees from CPM by 

charging fees to the general contractor and charges so-called “usage fees” from subcontractors.  

The “usage fees” were touted to be a percentage of the subcontract amount for each 

subcontractor.  Textrua’s CPM revenue was driven by usage fees because, according to Textura, 

75% of CPM revenue were derived by subcontractors and the balance from the general 

contractor. 

4. Throughout the Class Period, Defendants engaged in a fraud to conceal the 

questionable professional background of defendant Patrick J. Allin—Textura’s CEO and 

Chairman. 

5. While Textura touted Defendant Allin’s professional experience throughout the 

Class Period, Defendants failed to disclose Defendant Allin’s professional experience 

immediately preceding Textura.  Immediately before Textura, Defendant Allin served as CEO, 
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Chairman and Acting CFO at Patron Systems, Inc. and its successor.  Defendant Allin’s tenure at 

Patron is material to Textura investors because it is relevant to Defendant Allin’s credibility and 

reputation.  

6. Defendant Allin’s Tenure at Patron is material because had it been disclosed to 

Textura investors, they would have learned that Patron’s auditor Grant Thornton LLP found that 

Allin’s representations to them could not be relied upon and that Defendant Allin made false 

statements to Grant Thornton.    

7. Textura’s investors would have also learned that Patron was a notorious pump and 

dump scheme during Defendant Allin’s tenure—which resulted in the criminal convictions and 

regulatory action of several persons.  During Defendant Allin’s tenure at Patron, Defendant Allin 

was involved with Thomas Prousalis—the chief legal architect behind fraudulent merger deals 

sold by boiler room firm Stratton Oakmont, Inc.—the firm co-founded by notorious stock 

fraudster Jordan Belfort—the so-called “Wolf of Wall Street.”  Defendant Allin caused Patron to 

issue 1.5 million shares of Patron stock to Prousalis for “legal services.”    

8. At the same time Defendants were concealing Defendant Allin’s background, 

Defendants: (a) misstated the revenue it generated from CPM by overstating the percentage or 

basis points it earned as usage fees; (b) misstated the addressable market for its products; and (c) 

failed to adequately disclose related party transactions involving a sales referral agreement. 

9. Against this backdrop, Textura was able to complete an initial public offering and 

follow-on offering selling Textura stock at artificially inflated prices-raising over $116.8 million 

in net proceeds.  
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10. Textura insiders also sold over $27.8 million in Textura securities at artificially 

inflated prices—of those sales, Defendant Allin sold over $7.5 million and Defendant Jillian 

Sheehan sold over $1.3 million. 

11. The market learned of the true facts through several partial corrective disclosures, 

causing the price of Textura stock to fall damaging Plaintiff and the Class. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

12. Jurisdiction is conferred by §27 of the Exchange Act. The claims asserted herein 

arise under §§10(b) and 20(a) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder. 

13. This Court has jurisdiction over the subject matter of this action under 28 U.S.C. 

§§1331 and 1337, and §27 of the Exchange Act. 

14. Venue is proper in this District pursuant to §27 of the Exchange Act and 28 

U.S.C. §1391(b) as a substantial part of the conduct complained of herein occurred in this 

District and the Company conducts business in this district. 

15. In connection with the acts, conduct and other wrongs alleged in this Complaint, 

Defendants, directly or indirectly, used the means and instrumentalities of interstate commerce, 

including but not limited to, the United States mails, interstate telephone communications and 

the facilities of the national securities exchange. 

PARTIES 

16. Plaintiff Fred Kelsey purchased Textura common stock at artificially inflated 

prices during the Class Period and has been damaged thereby.  Plaintiff’s PSLRA certification on 

file with the Court is referenced herein. 

17. Defendant Textura is a Delaware Corporation with its headquarters in Deerfield, 

Illinois, which provides on-demand business collaboration software solutions to the commercial 
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construction industry in the United States and Canada. During the Class Period the Company’s 

stock was traded on the NYSE under the symbol “TXTR.” 

18. Defendant Patrick J. Allin (“Allin”) has been at all relevant times the Chairman 

and Chief Executive Officer of the Company. 

19. Defendant Jillian Sheehan (“Sheehan”) has been at all relevant times the 

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the Company. 

20. Defendants Allin and Sheehan are collectively referred to hereinafter as the 

“Individual Defendants.” 

21. Each of the Individual Defendants: 

a. directly participated in the management of the Company; 

b. was directly involved in the day-to-day operations of the Company at the 

highest levels; 

c. was privy to confidential proprietary information concerning the Company 

and its business and operations; 

d. was directly or indirectly involved in drafting, producing, reviewing 

and/or disseminating the false and misleading statements and information 

alleged herein;  

e. was directly or indirectly involved in the oversight or implementation of 

the Company’s internal controls; 

f. was aware of or recklessly disregarded the fact that the false and 

misleading statements were being issued concerning the Company; and/or 

g. approved or ratified these statements in violation of the federal securities 

laws. 
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22. Textura is liable for the acts of the Individual Defendants and its employees under 

the doctrine of respondeat superior and common law principles of agency because all of the 

wrongful acts complained of herein were carried out within the scope of their employment. 

23. The scienter of the Individual Defendants and other employees and agents of the 

Company is similarly imputed to Textura under respondeat superior and agency principles. 

BACKGROUND 

24. Defendant Textura’s main product is CPM, which is an electronic invoicing and 

payment system that integrates all construction payment management process components 

including—billing, progress claims, lien waiver collection, statutory declarations, sub-tier 

waivers, compliance management and payments— into one seamless workflow. 

25. CPM is core to Textura’s operations.  CPM accounts for 62.8%, 75.0% and 93.9% 

of the Company’s revenue in fiscal 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively. 

26. CPM revenue consists largely of two components, a fee paid by the general 

contractor and usage fees paid by subcontractors.  According to Textura, usage fees account for 

75% of the revenue earned from CPM.  Thus, usage fees are a good metric to determine the 

revenue generated by Textura. 

DEFENDANTS MISCONDUCT 

A. Textura Conceals Defendant Allin’s Executive History—Defendant Allin’s is 
Accused os Providing False Information to Auditors; Allin’s Multi-year 
Tenure at a Company Implicated in a Pump and Dump Stock Promotion 

27. In the final prospectus filed with the SEC on June 7, 2013, Textura published a 

materially false and misleading biography of Defendant Allin.  The prospectus states in relevant 

part: 

Patrick J. Allin has been our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer since co-
founding our company in September 2004. Prior to co-founding Textura, Mr. 
Allin served as a senior client delivery partner, Chief Operating Officer and Chief 
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Financial Officer of the Global Consulting Practice at PricewaterhouseCoopers 
LLP. Earlier in his career, Mr. Allin served in a number of executive positions, 
including President, at Moore Business Forms North America and as an audit 
partner at PriceWaterhouse. Mr. Allin holds a Bachelor of Commerce degree in 
commerce and economics from the University of Toronto and is a Canadian 
Chartered Accountant. Mr. Allin brings to our board of directors extensive 
experience with Textura’s business and operations as a founder of our company.  
 
28. The identical biography was published in the following periodic reports during 

the Class Period: 

a. Registration statement, signed by Defendants Allin and Sheehan, filed 

with SEC on September 19, 2013;  

b. Final prospectus filed with the SEC on September 20, 2013; and 

c. Proxy statement filed with the SEC on January 3, 2014. 

29. The biography is materially false and misleading, because while it purports to 

disclose Defendant Allin’s work history “prior to” founding Textura and it omitted his “earlier 

executive” positions he held at Patron Systems, Inc. (“Patron Systems”) and its successors.  

Defendant Allin’s involvement in Patron Systems and other companies is highly material to 

investors as it immediately preceded his tenure at Textura and is relevant to his credibility and 

reputation.   

30. The materiality of Defendant Allin’s background is amplified by the fact Textura 

has admitted that the Company relies heavily on Defendant Allin.  For example, in Textura’s 

Form 10-K filed with the SEC on November 26, 2013, Textura stated that “[t]he loss of the 

services of Patrick Allin, our Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer, or one or more 

of our other executive officers or key managers could have a material adverse effect on our 

business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.”  Textura also said that the loss 

of Defendant Allin “could materially impair our ability to perform successfully, including 
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achieving satisfactory operating results and maintaining our growth.”  Given Defendant Allin’s 

key role within Textura, his professional background and reputation was and is of paramount 

importance to investors. 

31. Defendants failed to disclose Defendant Allin’s service as CEO and Chairman of 

Patron Systems, Inc. a Delaware corporation formed in April 2002. 

32. Combined Professional Services, Inc. (“CPFS”) was a Nevada corporation formed 

in October 1995 as a blank check company. As a blank check company, CPFS had no business 

operations or revenues and its intended goal was to enter into a transaction with a target company 

in exchange for the issuance of shares of our common stock. 

33. Jeff Spanier (“Spanier”) was the sole officer and director of CPFS. 

34. On September 27, 2002, CPFS entered into a share exchange agreement with 

Patron Systems. At the time, Defendant Allin served as the CEO of Patron Systems and was a 

signatory to the merger agreement. 

35. On October 11, 2002, CPFS completed the share exchange with Patron Systems. 

As a result, Patron Systems became a wholly owned subsidiary of CPFS, which changed its 

name to Patron Holdings, Inc. (“Patron Holdings”). 

36. On March 27, 2003, Patron Holdings merged with and into Patron Systems for the 

purpose of changing its state of incorporation form Nevada to Delaware with Patron Systems 

(together with Patron Holdings, “Patron”) as the surviving corporation. 

37. From October 11, 2002 to January 21, 2004, Defendant Allin served as the CEO 

of Patron.  At the time of his resignation, Allin was also serving as Acting CFO of Patron. 

 Patron’s Auditors Stated that It Could No Longer Rely on Defendant 
Allin’s Representations 
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38. In a February 10, 2004 Form 8-K filed with the SEC by Patron, Patron revealed 

that it received a letter from its auditor Grant Thornton LLP dated January 19, 2004, stating that 

it resigned because Grant Thornton could “no longer rely on Patron’s representations and, and as 

a result, Grant Thornton is unwilling to be associated with the financial statements prepared by 

Patron, and accordingly, advised us that Grant Thornton was withdrawing its audit reports and 

those audit reports could no longer be relied upon.”  Ironically, one reason for Grant Thornton’s 

conclusion was the failure of Patron to be forthcoming about the background of an investor.  The 

8-K states in relevant part: 

In its letter of resignation, Grant Thornton concluded based on background 
information related to the investor it had independently obtained and later had 
been brought to its attention by management through subsequent discussions, that 
this background information had not been brought to Grant Thornton's attention 
on a timely basis. In its resignation letter, Grant Thornton indicated that it 
believed a representation made by the Company that Hogan & Hartson LLP 
("Hogan") had agreed to be re-engaged as the Company's legal counsel upon 
payment of outstanding fees was not factual based upon its on inquires made 
to Hogan. In addition, Grant Thornton also indicated that the Company had not 
been forthcoming with contact information requested from the Company for 
an official reference regarding the background of the investor. These factors, 
coupled with newly found information concerning the investor's background, and 
the fact that the funding had never occurred as promised by the investor, led 
Grant Thornton to conclude that it could no longer rely on Patron's 
representations and, as a result, Grant Thornton is unwilling to be associated 
with the financial statements prepared by Patron, and accordingly, advised 
us that Grant Thornton was withdrawing its audit reports and those audit 
reports could no longer be relied upon. 
 
39. Grant Thornton’s findings are highly material and demonstrate that Defendant 

Allin misled Grant Thornton, given that Defendant Allin was CEO and Acting CFO of Patron 

when Grant Thornton resigned and made these findings.  Effectively, at the time of Grant 

Thornton’s resignation Defendant Allin was Patron.  Indeed, in Patron’s Form 10QSB filed with 

the SEC three weeks earlier on December 29, 2003, Defendant Allin’s home address is listed as 

the corporate headquarters of Patron—except that a “Suite 150” is added to the address. 
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40. The materiality of the Grant Thornton’s findings is heightened by the fact that 

Defendant Allin’s Textura biography touted that he has previously served as “audit partner” at 

“Pricewaterhouse” accounting firm.  This is important for two reasons.  First, it shows that it is 

unlikely that Defendant Allin’s misstatements to Grant Thornton were the result of mistake, but 

more likely fraud or reckless conduct given his background as an “audit partner.”  Second, 

Textura should have disclosed Defendant Allin’s background at Patron so that they could assess 

this material information for themselves.   

41. Additionally, the materiality of the omission of Patron from Defendant Allin’s 

biography is amplified by the fact that Defendant Allin’s biography published by Patron 

contained outlandish claims. In a press release issued on October 23, 2004, Patron claimed that 

Defendant Allin was “President of various Billion dollar companies in Canada and the US.”   

 Defendant Allin’s Prior Dealings with Convicted Stock Fraudsters  

42. Had Textura disclosed Defendant Allin’s prior involvement in Patron, Textura 

investors would have learned that Defendant Allin was involved with Thomas Prousalis—the 

chief legal architect behind fraudulent merger deals sold by boiler room firm Stratton Oakmont, 

Inc.—the firm co-founded by notorious stock fraudster Jordan Belfort—the so-called “Wolf of 

Wall Street.”  On or about September 2002, Patron issued 1.5 million shares of Patron stock to 

Prousalis for “legal services.”  In 2004, Prousalis pled guilty to securities fraud and conspiracy to 

commit wire fraud charges involving another penny stock company. 

43. Additionally, according to the January 13, 2014 Citron Research report, in 

February and March of 2003, Defendant Allin granted Paul Harary (“Harary”) and his wife stock 

worth over $7.3 million as of the date of the filing of a Form S-8 on April 9, 2003 (the “Form S-

8”) registering the shares granted to Harary. 
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44. According to the Form S-8, the stock grant was for services provided in a 

consulting agreement with Security Management Partners, Inc. which Harary is the sole 

stockholder of. The Form S-8 states in relevant parts: 

Consulting Agreements 

On March 31, 2003, the Company entered into consulting agreements with 
each M. Rashid Qajar and Security Management Partners. The term of each 
agreement is two years. The consulting services to be provided by Mr. Qajar 
shall be to advise and consult with the Company regarding general business 
matters including, but not limited to, development of an international business 
strategy, the evaluation and analysis of management needs and identifying and 
introducing the Company to prospective merger, asset, business or other 
acquisition candidates. The consulting services to be provided by Security 
Management Partners, Inc. include to seek and identify potential candidates 
in the enterprise security service and technology field for acquisition by the 
Company. For and as consideration for the services provided pursuant to the 
consulting agreements, the Company has agreed to pay Mr. Qajar 2,050,000 
shares of common stock of the Company and Security Management Partners 
200,000 shares of common stock of the Company and the Company has 
agreed to register the common stock on this Form S-8. 

 

(Emphasis added). 

45. On July 14, 2004, National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc. (“NASD”, now 

known as Financial Industry Regulatory Authority, Inc. or “FINRA”) issued a press release 

announcing that it charged Florida Discount Securities, Inc. (“Florida Discount”), its former 

President and owner and eight of its brokers with defrauding investors in a boiler room operation 

selling common stock of CPFS and another blank check company from the spring of 2001 

through the fall of 2002—immediately prior to CPFS’ share exchange with Patron. The press 

releases states in relevant part: 

FOR RELEASE: Wednesday, July 14, 2004 
CONTACTS:  Nancy Condon 202-728-8379 

Herb Perone 202-728-8464 
 
NASD Charges Florida Discount Securities with Fraud 
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Washington, D.C.-NASD announced charges today against Florida Discount 
Securities, Inc., formally of Boca Raton, FL, its former President and owner, 
Bruce Rich, and eight brokers with engaging in high-pressure, boiler-room 
type sales practices that defrauded investors of more than $4.5 million. 
 
NASD charged that, from the spring of 2001 through the fall of 2002, Rich 
and eight Florida Discount brokers engaged in a variety of fraudulent and 
manipulative sales practices in soliciting customers to purchase shares of two 
highly speculative securities, Combined Professional Services, Inc. (CPFS) 
and BSD Software, Inc. (BSDS). Both CPFS and BSDS were non-operational 
“shell” or “blank check” companies with no operating histories, no significant 
financial resources, minimal assets and no operating income or revenues. Each 
company’s plan was to seek a business it could acquire or with which it could 
merge. Neither company ever identified a prospective target business. 
 
NASD’s Complaint charges that under Rich’s direction, Florida Discount 
became a “boiler room” that sold CPFS and BSDS common stock through an 
aggressive cold-calling campaign that involved high-pressure sales tactics; 
misrepresentations and omissions of material facts; failing to disclose adverse 
information about the risks of investing in CPFS and BSDS and their bleak 
business prospects; making baseless optimistic predictions about the 
companies’ future business prospects and the value of their securities; 
making unauthorized transactions in customers’ accounts; engaging in a “no 
net-selling” practice in which brokers refused to take customer sell orders, 
delayed taking sell orders, and attempted to persuade customers not to sell; 
and, deceived customers into believing that Florida Discount had an 
investment banking department and investment banking relationships with 
CPFS and BSDS. 
 
The Florida Discount brokers (identified by their Central Registration Depository 
numbers) charged with participating in the illegal scheme are: Dante F. Calicchio 
(CRD No. 2812117); Charles P. Celestin (CRD No. 4276880); Mark W. 
Eshleman (CRD No. CRD No. 1244069); Fernando Fernandez (CRD No. CRD 
No. 4008751); Adam T. Forman (CRD No. 2826964); Marc S. Kimmel (CRD 
No. 2805550); Shannon L. Norris (CRD No. 2983568), and. Kristian F. Sierp 
(CRD No. 2428092). 

 
(Emphasis added). 

46. On November 10, 2004, the National Adjudicatory Council (“NAC”) of NASD 

accepted Offers of Settlement from Bruce Rich (“Rich”) and Florida Discount, barring Rich and 
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expelling Florida Discount for engaging in fraudulent sales practices and egregiously failing to 

supervise registered representatives and associated persons. 

47. On August 30, 2005, NASD issued a Hearing Panel Decision, which barred five 

Florida Discount brokers from associating with any member firm in any capacity and ordered 

two of them to pay restitution to customers for engaging in fraudulent sales practices. A 

concurrent Default Decision barred three Florida Discount brokers for engaging in fraudulent 

sales practices. 

48. According to the Hearing Panel Decision: 

 In June 2001, CPFS exchanged 150,000 shares of its common stock for 49 

shares of Florida Discount; 

 A press release issued on August 12, 2002 noted that CPFS held a 4.9 

percent interest in PBJ Holdings, the parent of Florida Discount and that 

the beneficial owner of PBJ Holdings owned 300,000 shares of CPFS 

stock; 

 Rich owned PBJ Holdings and was the president of Florida Discount and 

described Harary as a partner and the money behind Florida 

Discount; 

 The acronym PBJ purportedly stands for Paul [Harary], Bruce [Rich], 

and Jeff [Spanier]; 

 Spanier had previously worked at Florida Discount as a recruiter of 

brokers, including Mark W. Eshleman, Adam T. Forman, Marc S. 

Kimmel, and Kristian F. Sierp; 

Case: 1:14-cv-07837 Document #: 25 Filed: 02/17/15 Page 13 of 40 PageID #:138



14 

 Rich, Harary, and Spanier recruited registered representatives to 

staff a classic boiler room operation, primarily dedicated to selling 

CPFS and BSDS common stock; 

 CPFS stock had been dormant until March 2001, when there was a sudden 

spike in the price and volume of the security— more than 90 percent of 

the retail buying activity came from one clearing firm, Fiserve, and almost 

all of that activity was generated by Florida Discount; and 

 NASD alleges that customers of Florida Discount bought a total of more 

than $24 million of CPFS and BSDS stock, eventually sustaining realized 

losses of more than $1.1 million and unrealized losses estimated to exceed 

$3.5 million. 

49. Both Harary and Spanier are currently in federal prison for stock fraud-related 

charges. 

50. On December 26, 2013, Citron Research published a report, dated December 29, 

2013, which revealed his undisclosed past at Patron and Patron’s involvement with stock 

fraudsters.  The December 26, 2013 Citron Research report is attached hereto as Exhibit 1, and 

incorporated by reference herein. 

51. These adverse facts in the report caused the Company’s stock to fall on December 

26, 2013 $6.44/share or 17% on December 26, 2013 and an additional $1.76/share of 5.6% on 

December 27, 2013.   

52. On January 7, 2014 Citron Research published a report, detailing additional facts 

about Defendant Allin’s tenure at Patron.  The January 7, 2014 report is attached hereto as 

Exhibit 2, and is referenced herein. 
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53. The adverse facts in the report caused the Company’s stock to fall $3.33/share or 

10.4% on January 7, 2014 and an additional $2.87/share or 10.0% on January 8, 2014. 

B. Defendants Misleadingly Overstated the Revenue Generated from CPM 

54. Defendants misrepresented the revenue generated from CPM.   

55. On December 3, 2013, Defendants Allin and Sheehan made a presentation at the 

2013 Credit Suisse Technology Conference held at The Phoenician in Scottsdale, Arizona, which 

was webcasted live and made available for replay on the Company’s website.  Textura touted the 

Company’s price increase—which would add 2-3 basis points to the Company’s purported usage 

fee rate of 7-8 basis points.  The relevant slide is set forth below. 
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56. Previously, Textura said that the subcontractor usage fee represents 75% of the 

fee revenue generated from CPM.  Thus, the usage fee is the dominant driver of CPM revenue. 

57. On January 14, 2014, Defendants Allin and Sheehan presented a Power Point 

presentation at the 16th Annual Needham Growth Conference in New York, now claiming that 

Textura earned 15 basis points (or .15%) of the full value of the subcontractor contract.  The 

presentation was also published on the Company’s website on or about January 14, 2014.  The 

relevant slide is set forth below. 

 

58. The slide falsely suggests that Textura would earn 15 basis points of $7 million, 

$5 million, $2 million, and $6 million or a total of $30,000.    
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59. Textura failed to disclose that usage fees were subject to a maximum cap of 

$1,450 or $2,500 during the Class Period.  On projects starting after February 1, 2014, the cap 

was $2,500 or 18 basis points.  Thus, usage fees would be a total of $5,800 or 2.9 basis points 

under the $1,450 cap; and $10,000 or 5 basis points under the $2,500 cap. 

60. On May 7, 2014, during a conference call with investors after market close, 

Defendant Sheehan revealed that the true basis points from usage fees were 7 to 8 basis points.  

Defendant Sheehan stated in relevant part: 

In the March quarter, the monetization rate of CPM subcontractor usage fee 
revenue decreased from an average of 8 basis points of subcontract value to 7 
basis points. On large projects, such as those added in the December and 
September quarters, the initial contracting is on larger, longer lead time contracts, 
which typically have a much lower effective usage fee rate. Later contracting on 
large projects is at higher usage fee rates. Over the life of these projects, we 
anticipate that we will monetize at our normal historical average rate. The lower 
effective rate decreased cash revenue by $325,000 in the quarter. 
 
61. This adverse announcement caused the Company’s stock to fall on May 8, 2014 

from $16.06/share to $14.23/share or 11.4%. 

62. On September 29, 2014 Citron Research published a report, which is attached 

hereto as Exhibit 3 and is incorporated by reference herein, revealing a survey conducted of 20 

non-residential projects (as CPM is not used in residential projects) of the kind that Textura 

would be involved in, which revealed usage fees of 3.4 basis points.  See, Exhibit 3, at 5. 

63. This adverse report caused the Company’s stock to fall $2.51/share or 8.9% on 

September 29, 2014. 

64. Plaintiff’s counsel corroborated the September 29, 2014 Citron Research survey 

by determining the names of the general contractors in the Citron Research survey and 

performing calculations to determine to effective basis points under the survey.1  The table below 

                                                 
1 Project no. 5 in the September 29, 2014 Citron Research report is duplicative of project no. 17.  

Case: 1:14-cv-07837 Document #: 25 Filed: 02/17/15 Page 17 of 40 PageID #:142



18 

identifies the prime subcontractors by name and the calculated usage fee using Textura’s 15 basis 

points and a cap of $1,450 on the usage fee.  As demonstrated below, the effective rate is a paltry 

3.5 basis points.  The survey is a reliable indicator of representative projects given that a number 

of the companies listed were, are became Textura customers or clients. 

 
        15 bps sub fee 

        $50 min / $1,450 max

    

Project  Total Award  Total Sub Fee (Actual)

1   $                  58,569,656.00    PCL*   $                          19,610.32 

2   $                  67,793,284.00    Mortenson*   $                          29,535.83 

3   $                  47,677,778.00    Skanska USA*   $                          31,186.65 

4   $                  71,467,904.00    Skanska USA*   $                          30,236.14 

5   $                  32,887,274.00    Hoar*   $                          16,787.83 

6   $                  32,674,210.00    Sundt*   $                          21,001.37 

7   $                     5,188,089.00   HOF   $                            2,065.73 

8   $                  61,745,319.00    Nicholson & Galloway   $                            8,955.25 

9   $                  40,530,205.00    Consigli    $                          18,674.28 

10   $                196,715,345.00    Hensel Phelps   $                          19,463.25 

11   $                  44,636,984.00    Messer   $                          21,487.56 

12   $                  26,238,815.00    HOF    $                            3,744.11 

13   $                  13,979,213.00    HOF   $                            2,869.80 

14   $                  58,499,203.00    JE Dunn   $                          30,197.46 

15   $                  36,803,561.00    Hoar‐Christman, LLC*   $                          17,569.69 

16   $                130,901,718.00    Hensel Phelps   $                          51,130.53 

17   $                  64,735,873.00    Hensel Phelps   $                          21,141.43 

18   $                     4,889,168.00   Hensel Phelps   $                            4,153.47 

19   $                146,422,474.00    Mortenson*   $                          44,279.29 

20   $                  90,491,518.00    Pepper   $                          36,948.74 

    

    $            1,232,847,591.00    $                       431,038.72 

    

         

Sub bps of overall construction   3.50

* denotes a Textura customer/client 

                                                                                                                                                             
Thus, Plaintiff’s Counsel substituted a different project as project no. 5. 
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65. The above table and supporting calculations are attached hereto as Exhibit 4, and 

are referenced herein. 

66. On November 21, 2013, during an investor conference call, Defendant Allin 

announced a price increase in CPM which would raise usage fees 2 to 3 basis points.  

Undisclosed was the accompanying cap of $2,500.  The table below shows the effective basis 

points for the same survey above using Textura’s higher fee structure.  As demonstrated below, 

the effective rate is 5.1 basis points. 

        18 bps sub fee 

        $50 min / $2,500 max

    

Project  Total Award  Total Sub Fee (Actual)

1   $                  58,569,656.00    PCL*   $                          30,296.31 

2   $                  67,793,284.00    Mortenson*   $                          43,353.73 

3   $                  47,677,778.00    Skanska USA*   $                          44,918.24 

4   $                  71,467,904.00    Skanska USA*   $                          43,952.63 

5   $                  32,887,274.00    Hoar*   $                          23,925.40 

6   $                  32,674,210.00    Sundt*   $                          27,469.41 

7   $                     5,188,089.00   HOF   $                            3,200.89 

8   $                  61,745,319.00    Nicholson & Galloway   $                          13,301.30 

9   $                  40,530,205.00    Consigli    $                          23,699.14 

10   $                196,715,345.00    Hensel Phelps   $                          31,794.70 

11   $                  44,636,984.00    Messer   $                          28,878.87 

12   $                  26,238,815.00    HOF    $                            5,992.94 

13   $                  13,979,213.00    HOF   $                            4,184.19 

14   $                  58,499,203.00    JE Dunn   $                          42,512.39 

15   $                  36,803,561.00    Hoar‐Christman, LLC*   $                          27,382.11 

16   $                130,901,718.00    Hensel Phelps   $                          75,381.47 

17   $                  64,735,873.00    Hensel Phelps   $                          31,514.75 

18   $                     4,889,168.00   Hensel Phelps   $                            4,954.56 

19   $                146,422,474.00    Mortenson*   $                          64,857.36 

20   $                  90,491,518.00    Pepper   $                          55,735.57 

    

    $            1,232,847,591.00    $                       627,305.95 

    

         

Sub bps of overall construction   5.1
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* denotes a Textura customer/client. 

67. The above table and supporting calculations are attached hereto as Exhibit 5, and 

are referenced herein. 

C. Defendants Overstated the Addressable Market for CPM 

68. Textura also overstated the addressable market for its product by, among other 

things, misstating the current market several times over.  Textura variously claimed that the 

“current markets” is $1.3 trillion and then multiplied it by the total basis points from all of its 

product lines—which includes the overstated basis points from CPM noted above.  

69. During the November 21, 2013 conference call with investors, Textura presented 

the following slide, identifying the current markets as $1.3 trillion.  Textura used the $1.3 trillion 

and multiplied it with the basis points it generates from all of its products (which includes the  

overstated CPM basis points) and then falsely touted the total as a “Huge Total Addressable 

Market.” 
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70. The same slide was used in presentations:  

a. Defendants Allin and Sheehan made on December 3, 2014 at the Credit 

Suisse Technology Conference held at The Phoenician in Scottsdale, 

Arizona; 

b. Defendants Allin and Sheehan made on January 14, 2014 at the Needham 

Growth Conference held at The New York Palace Hotel in New York; 

c. Defendants Allin and Sheehan made during a conference call with 

investors on January 30, 2014; 

d. Defendants Allin and Sheehan made during its Annual Meeting with 

Stockholders; 
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e. Defendants Allin and Sheehan made during a conference call with 

investors on May 7, 2014; 

f. Defendants Allin and Sheehan made during a presentation at the William 

Blair Annual Growth Stock Conference held at the Four Seasons Hotel in 

Chicago; 

g. Defendants Allin and Sheehan made during a conference call with 

investors on August 6, 2014. 

71. The purported $1.3 trillion in current markets was materially false and 

misleading.  According to Citron Research, the US market is $596 billion.  See, Ex. 3, at 10. 

72. Indeed, according to U.S. Census Bureau2, total construction value in the United 

States at December 2012 was $884 billion. From this data, to determine the market, one must 

exclude the construction value of single family residences ($144.8 billion) and residential home 

improvements ($137.5 billion), doing so yields a market of $596 billion, not the $1.3 trillion that 

Textura claimed—more than double what Textura claimed. 

73. The US market is even smaller, according to Citron Research (Ex. 3, at 11) if one 

were to take into account the fact that certain types of construction projects have a very small 

percentage of subcontractor involvement.  According to Citron Research, when controlling for 

this fact, the US market is $326 billion. 

74. Textura’s overstatement of the market is extremely material, as it is the second 

piece of Textura’s one-two punch of misstatements.   Textura overstated the market, then 

multiplied it by its overstated basis points of all its business and touted the overstated total to 

investors.  

                                                 
2 http://www.census.gov/construction/c30/pdf/pr201212.pdf.  
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75. On September 29, 2014, Citron Research revealed in its report that Textura 

overstated the addressable market for its products in the same slide set forth above.  See, Exhibit 

3, at 9-12.  This adverse report caused the Company’s stock to fall $2.51/share or 8.9% on 

September 29, 2014. 

D. Defendants’ Failed to Adequately Disclose Material Related Party 
Transactions 

 GAAP and SEC Regulations Required Complete Disclosure of the 
Related Party Transactions 

76. GAAP constitutes those standards recognized by the accounting profession as the 

conventions, rules, and procedures necessary to define accepted accounting practices at a 

particular time. 

77. GAAP are the common set of accounting principles, standards, and procedures 

that companies in the United States use to compile their financial statements. 

78. The SEC has the statutory authority for the promulgation of GAAP for public 

companies and has delegated that authority to the Financial Accounting Standards Board (the 

“FASB”). 

79. SEC and NASDAQ rules and regulations require that publicly traded companies 

such as Textura include financial statements that comply with GAAP in their annual and 

quarterly reports filed with the SEC.  See Section 13 of the Exchange Act; Rule 10-01(d) of 

Regulation SX. 

80. SEC Rule 4-01(a) of Regulation S-X states that “[f]inancial statements filed with 

the Commission which are not prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting 

Case: 1:14-cv-07837 Document #: 25 Filed: 02/17/15 Page 23 of 40 PageID #:148



24 

principles will be presumed to be misleading or inaccurate.” 17 C.F.R. § 210.4-01(a)(1)3 

(emphasis added). 

81. Management retains responsibility for preparing financial statements that conform 

with GAAP. The American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“AICPA”) Professional 

Standards provide: 

 
The financial statements are management’s responsibility . . . Management is 
responsible for adopting sound accounting policies and for establishing and 
maintaining internal controls that will, among other things, record, process, 
summarize, and report transactions (as well as events and conditions) consistent 
with management’s assertions embodied in the financial statements. The entity’s 
transactions and the related assets, liabilities, and equity are within the direct 
knowledge and control of management. . . . Thus, the fair presentation of financial 
statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles is an 
implicit and integral part of management’s responsibility. 

AIPCA, Professional Standards, vol. 1, AU § 110.02 (1998). 
 

82. GAAP Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) and SEC 

Regulation S-K required the Company to disclose all material related party transactions. 

83. SFAS No. 57 and ASC No. 850 provide that a public company’s “[f]inancial 

statements shall include disclosures of material related party transactions.” SFAS No. 57 ¶ 2; 

ASC 850-10-50-1. 

84. “Related party transactions” include those between “an enterprise and its principal 

owners, management, or members of their immediate families” and those between a company 

and its “affiliates.” SFAS No. 57 ¶ 1; ASC 850-10-05-3. “Affiliate” includes any company that is 

under common control or management with the public company. SFAS No. 57 ¶ 24(a, b); ASC 

850-10-20. 

                                                 
3 Unless otherwise noted, all emphases are added. 
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85. Disclosures of related party transactions shall include: (a) the nature of the 

relationship involved, (b) a description of the transactions for each period for which income 

statements are presented and such other information necessary to an understanding of the effects 

of the transactions on the financial statements, (c) the dollar amount of transactions for each of 

the periods for which income statements are presented, and (d) amounts due from or to related 

parties as of the date of each balance sheet presented and, if not otherwise apparent, the terms 

and manner of settlement. SFAS No. 57 ¶ 2; ASC 850-10-50-1. 

86. SEC Regulation S-K (“Reg. S-K”) (together with the General Rules and 

Regulations under the Securities Act of 1933 [“Securities Act”] and the Exchange Act and the 

forms under these Acts) states the requirements applicable to the content of the non-financial 

statement portions of the annual reports on form 10-K, quarterly reports on form 10-Q and proxy 

statements on from 14A. (See, Reg. S-K, §229.10). 

87. Reg. S-K at Section 229.404, Item 404, required, at all times during the Class 

Period, that the Company “[d]escribe any transaction, since the beginning of the registrant’s last 

fiscal year, or any currently proposed transaction, in which the registrant was or is to be a 

participant and the amount involved exceeds $120,000, and in which any related person had or 

will have a direct or indirect material interest.” 

88. Reg. S-K required the disclosure of detailed information concerning related party 

transactions exceeding $120,000, including the names of the “related person” or entity 

participating in the transaction, and the amounts of the transaction. 

89. Reg. S-K Section 229.303, Item 404 (b)(1)(6) also mandates disclosure of any 

other relationships that the registrant is aware of between the nominee or director and the 
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registrant that are substantially similar in nature and scope to those relationships listed in 

paragraphs (b)(1) through (5). 

90. A “related person” is defined by Reg. S-K as including any director or executive 

officer of the Company, any nominee for director, or any immediate family member of a director 

or executive officer of the registrant, or of any nominee for director or any 5% or greater 

shareholder. 

 Defendants Failed to Adequately Disclose its Related Party 
Transactions with Aon Risk Services Central, Inc.  

91. In 2010, Textura entered into an amended referral agreement with Aon Risk 

Services Central, Inc. (“ARSC”).   ARSC is an affiliate of Aon, plc.  Aon, plc previously owned 

more than 5% of Textura common stock.  Pursuant to a voting agreement, Aon designated 

Gregory J. Besio as a Textura Director.  Besio has served a director of Textura since June 2011.  

Besio is also the Executive Vice President and Chief Human Resources Officer at Aon, plc.  

Thus, at all relevant times ARSC was a related party to Textura. 

92. Pursuant to the agreement, Textura was required to pay a referral fee to ARSC in 

exchange for customer referrals.  While Textura disclosed the existence of this referral 

agreement, it never disclosed the dollar amount of sales generated through the referral agreement 

nor did Textura specifically and clearly disclose the amount of referral fees paid.  The dollar 

amount of revenue generated from these referrals was very material, as sales generated through 

the referral agreement had smaller margins and thus were less profitable.   

93. Textura admitted the related party sales exceeded the $120,000 materiality 

threshold in its January 3, 2014 proxy statement filed with the SEC. 

94. Defendants failed to adequately disclose these material related party transactions 

in the following periodic reports during the Class Period: 

Case: 1:14-cv-07837 Document #: 25 Filed: 02/17/15 Page 26 of 40 PageID #:151



27 

a. IPO Registration Statement, signed by Defendants Allin and Sheehan, 

filed with the SEC on June 5, 2013 (pre-class IPO); 

b. Prospectus filed with the SEC on June 7, 2013; 

c. 10-Q, signed by Defendant Sheehan, filed with the SEC August 8, 2013; 

d. Follow-on offering Registration Statement, signed by Defendants Allin 

and Sheehan, filed with SEC on September 19, 2013; 

e. Prospectus filed with the SEC on September 20, 2013; 

f. 10-K, signed by Defendants Allin and Sheehan, filed with SEC on 

November 26, 2013; 

g. Proxy statement, filed with the SEC on January 3, 2014;  

h. 10-Q, signed by Defendant Sheehan, filed with SEC on February 13, 

2014;  

i. 10-Q, signed by Defendant Sheehan, filed with SEC on May 12, 2014; and 

j. 10-Q, signed by Defendant Sheehan, filed with SEC on August 8, 2014. 

95. On December 26, 2013, Citron Research published a report revealing the lack of 

disclosure concerning the amount of sales generated from sales referrals received from ARSC.  

Citron also asserted that the lack of disclosure raised material questions about whether these 

sales referrals are arms’ length transactions.  See, Ex. 1, at 13. 

96. This adverse facts in the report caused the Company’s stock to fall on $6.44/share 

or 17% on December 26, 2013 and an additional $1.76/share of 5.6% on December 27, 2013.   

E. Defendants Profited From the Fraud 

97. While the price of Textura’s stock was artificially inflated from Defendants’ 

misstatements and omissions, Textura insiders sold over $27.8 million in Textura securities:  
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a. At the beginning of the Class Period, Defendant Allin held 877,020 shares 

of Textura common stock and 1,072,534 shares in stock options and 

preferred stock. During the Class Period, Defendant Allin sold 223,826 

shares of common stock resulting in $7,596,312.98 in proceeds. At the end 

of the Class Period he held 740,570 shares of common stock and 

1,123,312 shares in stock options; 

b. Defendant Sheehan had 224,215 shares in stock options at the beginning 

of the class period. During the Class Period, she sold 43,026 shares netting 

gross proceeds of $1,358,728.98. At the end of the Class Period she held 

27,729 shares of common stock. 

c. Mike Antis, Textura’s Executive VP of Client Services, sold 28,101 shares 

for $886,427.72; 

d. Ryan Lawrence, Textura’s Senior Vice President and Chief Legal Officer, 

sold 2,036 shares of common stock obtaining $42,206.28 in proceeds; 

e. David Kelly, Textura’s Executive Vice President of Client Services, sold 

24,696 shares amassing $760,908.08 in proceeds; 

f. Edward Chandler, 22,000 shares for gross proceeds of $798,380; 

g. Gregory Besio, sold 61,761 shares for $4,413,905.86; 

h. Peter Pace, a director of Textura, sold 18,007 shares for $374,071.26 in 

proceeds;  

i. Matthew J. Botica, a director of Textura, sold 15,000 shares obtaining 

gross proceeds of $544,350.  
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j. Howard Niden, Textura’s EVP and Chief Solutions Architect, sold 13,226 

shares of common stock resulting in proceeds of $274,174.98. 

k. William Eichhorn, Textura’s Executive Vice President, sold 14,946 shares 

amassing proceeds of $309,830.58. 

l. Jonathan Halloran, Executive Vice President, sold 4,000 shares for 

$145,160. 

m. Matt Ostanik, sold 400,000 shares of Textura for proceeds of $14,516,000. 

98. Textura was also able to conduct its initial public offering on or about June 7, 

2013, selling 5.75 million shares (including over allotment) at artificially inflated prices raising 

net proceeds of $80.2 million to Textura.   

99. On or about September 20, 2013, Textura conducted a follow-on offering at 

artificially inflated prices raising net proceeds of $36.6 million to Textura. 

100. In short, Textura and its insiders reaped over $144.6 million proceeds from selling 

Textura securities at artificially inflated prices. 

F. Additional Allegations Demonstrating Falsity and Scienter 

101. Defendants pushed the envelope in making unsupported claims about its business.  

For example, as chronicled by Citron Research in its December 26, 2013 report (Ex.1, at 3-4), 

Textura attempted to overstate its business by claiming “high client retention” and purported 

“growing demand” from Textura’s multinational clients in its IPO documents.  When the SEC 

demanded proof supporting these bold statements, Textura abandoned the statements—

effectively admitting it lacked such proof. 
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102. While Textura touts material patent protection, the Company failed to disclose 

that core of their patent portfolio was rejected by the European Patent Office.  See Ex. 3, at 13-

14. 

PLAINTIFF’S CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS 

103. Plaintiff brings this action as a class action pursuant to Federal Rules of Civil 

Procedure 23(a) and (b)(3) on behalf of a Class, consisting of all persons who purchased the 

common stock of Textura during the Class Period and who were damaged thereby. Excluded 

from the Class are: (a) persons who suffered no compensable losses, e.g., those who bought 

Textura securities during the Class Period but sold prior to any corrective disclosure; and (b) 

Defendants, the officers and directors of the Company, at all relevant times, members of their 

immediate families and their legal representatives, heirs, successors or assigns and any entity in 

which Defendants has or had a controlling interest. 

104. The members of the Class are so numerous that joinder of all members is 

impracticable. Throughout the Class Period, Textura’s common stock was actively traded on 

NYSE. While the exact number of Class members is unknown to Plaintiff at this time and can 

only be ascertained through appropriate discovery, Plaintiff believes that there are at least 

hundreds of members in the proposed Class. Members of the Class may be identified from 

records maintained by Textura or its transfer agent and may be notified of the pendency of this 

action by mail, using a form of notice customarily used in securities class actions. 

105. Plaintiff’s claims are typical of the claims of the members of the Class, as all 

members of the Class are similarly affected by Defendants’ wrongful conduct in violation of 

federal law that is complained of herein. 

106. Plaintiff will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the members of the 

Class and has retained counsel competent and experienced in class and securities litigation. 
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107. Common questions of law and fact exist as to all members of the Class and 

predominate over any questions solely affecting individual members of the Class. Among the 

questions of law and fact common to the Class are: 

(a) whether the federal securities laws were violated by Defendants’ acts as 

alleged herein; 

(b) whether statements made by Defendants to the investing public during the 

Class Period misrepresented material facts about the business and 

operations of Textura; and 

(c) to what extent the members of the Class have sustained damages, and the 

proper measure of damages. 

108. A class action is superior to all other available methods for the fair and efficient 

adjudication of this controversy since joinder of all members is impracticable. Furthermore, as 

the damages suffered by individual Class members may be relatively small, the expense and 

burden of individual litigation make it impossible for members of the Class to redress 

individually the wrongs done to them. There will be no difficulty in the management of this 

action as a class action. 

APPLICABILITY OF PRESUMPTION OF RELIANCE: 
FRAUD-ON-THE-MARKET DOCTRINE 

109. At all relevant times, the market for Textura common stock was an efficient  

market for the following reasons, among others:  

a. Textura stock met the requirements for listing, and was listed and actively 

traded on the NYSE, a highly efficient and automated market;  

b. As of August 1, 2014, there were 25.4 million shares of the Company’s 

common stock issued and outstanding. The public float (shares not held by 
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insiders/defendants) was about 21.4  million;  Approximately 10.7% of the 

public float, and 9.0% of all outstanding shares, were bought and sold on a 

weekly basis, demonstrating a very strong presumption of an efficient 

market;  

c. Textura regularly communicated with public investors via established 

market communication mechanisms, including regular disseminations of 

press releases on the national circuits of major newswire services and 

other wide-ranging public disclosures, such as communications with the 

financial press and other similar reporting services;  and 

d. Textura was followed by several securities analysts employed by major 

brokerage firms including, who wrote reports that were distributed to the 

sales force and certain customers of their respective brokerage firms 

during the Class Period.  

110. Unexpected material news about Textura was rapidly reflected in and 

incorporated into the Company’s stock price during the Class Period.  As a result of the 

foregoing, the market for Textura’s common stock promptly digested current information 

regarding Textura from all publicly available sources and reflected such information in Textura’s 

stock price.  Under these circumstances, all purchasers of Textura’s common stock during the 

Class Period suffered similar injury through their purchase of Textura’s common stock at 

artificially inflated prices, and a presumption of reliance applies. 

APPLICABILITY OF PRESUMPTION OF RELIANCE:  
AFFILIATED UTE 

111. Neither Plaintiff nor the Class need prove reliance—either individually or as a 

class because under the circumstances of this case, which involves a failure to disclose the 
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Defendant Allin’s prior work history at Patron and the failure to adequately disclose the material 

related party transactions described herein above, positive proof of reliance is not a prerequisite 

to recovery, pursuant to ruling of the United States Supreme Court in Affiliated Ute Citizens of 

Utah v. United States, 406 U.S. 128 (1972). All that is necessary is that the facts withheld be 

material in the sense that a reasonable investor might have considered the omitted information 

important in deciding whether to buy or sell the subject security. 

FIRST CLAIM 
Violation of Section 10(b) of 

The Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 
Promulgated Thereunder Against All Defendants 

112. Plaintiff repeats and realleges each and every allegation contained above as if 

fully set forth herein. 

113. During the Class Period, Defendants carried out a plan, scheme and course of 

conduct which was intended to and, throughout the Class Period, did: (1) deceive the investing 

public, including Plaintiff and other Class members, as alleged herein; and (2) cause Plaintiff and 

other members of the Class to purchase Textura’s securities at artificially inflated prices. In 

furtherance of this unlawful scheme, plan and course of conduct, each of the Defendants took the 

actions set forth herein. 

114. Defendants: (a) employed devices, schemes, and artifices to defraud; (b) made 

untrue statements of material fact and/or omitted to state material facts necessary to make the 

statements not misleading; and (c) engaged in acts, practices, and a course of business that 

operated as a fraud and deceit upon the purchasers of the Company’s securities in an effort to 

maintain artificially high market prices for Textura’s securities in violation of Section 10(b) of 

the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder. All Defendants are sued either as 
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primary participants in the wrongful and illegal conduct charged herein or as controlling persons 

as alleged below. 

115. Defendants, individually and in concert, directly and indirectly, by the use, means 

or instrumentalities of interstate commerce and/or of the mails, engaged and participated in a 

continuous course of conduct to conceal adverse material information about the business, 

operations and future prospects of Textura as specified herein. 

116. These Defendants employed devices, schemes, and artifices to defraud while in 

possession of material adverse non-public information, and engaged in acts, practices, and a 

course of conduct as alleged herein in an effort to assure investors of Textura’s value and 

performance and continued substantial growth, which included the making of, or participation in 

the making of, untrue statements of material facts and omitting to state material facts necessary 

in order to make the statements made about Textura and its business operations and future 

prospects in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading, as set 

forth more particularly herein, and engaged in transactions, practices and a course of business 

that operated as a fraud and deceit upon the purchasers of Textura’s securities during the Class 

Period. 

117. Each of the Individual Defendants’ primary liability, and controlling person 

liability, arises from the following facts: (1) the Individual Defendants were high-level 

executives, directors, and/or agents at the Company during the Class Period and members of the 

Company’s management team or had control thereof; (2) each of these Defendants, by virtue of 

his responsibilities and activities as a senior officer and/or director of the Company, was privy to 

and participated in the creation, development and reporting of the Company’s financial 

condition; (3) each of these Defendants enjoyed significant personal contact and familiarity with 
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the other Defendants and was advised of and had access to other members of the Company’s 

management team, internal reports and other data and information about the Company’s 

finances, operations, and sales at all relevant times; and (4) each of these Defendants was aware 

of the Company’s dissemination of information to the investing public which they knew or 

recklessly disregarded was materially false and misleading. 

118. Defendants had actual knowledge of the misrepresentations and omissions of 

material facts set forth herein, or acted with reckless disregard for the truth in that they failed to 

ascertain and to disclose such facts, even though such facts were available to them. Such 

Defendants’ material misrepresentations and/or omissions were done knowingly or recklessly 

and for the purpose and effect of concealing Textura’s operating condition and future business 

prospects from the investing public and supporting the artificially inflated price of its securities. 

As demonstrated by Defendants’ overstatements and misstatements of the Company’s financial 

condition throughout the Class Period, Defendants, if they did not have actual knowledge of the 

misrepresentations and omissions alleged, were reckless in failing to obtain such knowledge by 

deliberately refraining from taking those steps necessary to discover whether those statements 

were false or misleading. 

119. As a result of the dissemination of the materially false and misleading information 

and failure to disclose material facts, as set forth above, the market price of Textura’s securities 

was artificially inflated during the Class Period. In ignorance of the fact that market prices of 

Textura’s publicly-traded securities were artificially inflated, and relying directly or indirectly on 

the false and misleading statements made by Defendants, or upon the integrity of the market in 

which the common stock trades, and/or on the absence of material adverse information that was 

known to or recklessly disregarded by Defendants but not disclosed in public statements by 
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Defendants during the Class Period, Plaintiff and the other members of the Class acquired 

Textura’s securities during the Class Period at artificially high prices and were or will be 

damaged thereby. 

120. At the time of said misrepresentations and omissions, Plaintiff and other members 

of the Class were ignorant of their falsity, and believed them to be true. Had Plaintiff and the 

other members of the Class and the marketplace known the truth regarding Textura’s financial 

results, which was not disclosed by Defendants, Plaintiff and other members of the Class would 

not have purchased or otherwise acquired their Textura’s securities, or, if they had acquired such 

securities during the Class Period, they would not have done so at the artificially inflated prices 

that they paid. 

121. By virtue of the foregoing, Defendants have violated Section 10(b) of the 

Exchange Act, and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder. 

122. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ wrongful conduct, Plaintiff and 

the other members of the Class suffered damages in connection with their respective purchases 

and sales of the Company’s securities during the Class Period. 

123. This action was filed within two years of discovery of the fraud and within five 

years of each plaintiff’s purchases of securities giving rise to the cause of action. 

SECOND CLAIM 
Violation of Section 20(a) of 

The Exchange Act Against the Individual Defendants 

124. Plaintiff repeats and realleges each and every allegation contained above as if 

fully set forth herein. 

125. The Individual Defendants acted as controlling persons of Textura within the 

meaning of Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act as alleged herein. By virtue of their high-level 

positions, agency, ownership and contractual rights, and participation in and/or awareness of the 
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Company’s operations and/or intimate knowledge of the false financial statements filed by the 

Company with the SEC and disseminated to the investing public, the Individual Defendants had 

the power to influence and control, and did influence and control, directly or indirectly, the 

decision-making of the Company, including the content and dissemination of the various 

statements that Plaintiff contends are false and misleading. The Individual Defendants were 

provided with or had unlimited access to copies of the Company’s reports, press releases, public 

filings and other statements alleged by Plaintiff to have been misleading prior to and/or shortly 

after these statements were issued and had the ability to prevent the issuance of the statements or 

to cause the statements to be corrected. 

126. In particular, each of these Defendants had direct and supervisory involvement in 

the day-to-day operations of the Company and, therefore, is presumed to have had the power to 

control or influence the particular transactions giving rise to the securities violations as alleged 

herein, and exercised the same. 

127. As set forth above, Textura and the Individual Defendants each violated Section 

10(b), and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder, by their acts and omissions as alleged in this 

Complaint. 

128. By virtue of their positions as controlling persons, the Individual Defendants are 

liable pursuant to Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act. As a direct and proximate result of 

Defendants’ wrongful conduct, Plaintiff and other members of the Class suffered damages in 

connection with their purchases of the Company’s securities during the Class Period. 

129. This action was filed within two years of discovery of the fraud and within five 

years of each Plaintiff’s purchases of securities giving rise to the cause of action. 

 WHEREFORE, Plaintiff prays for relief and judgment, as follows: 
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(a) Determining that this action is a proper class action, designating Plaintiff as class 

representative and certifying Plaintiff as a class representative under Rule 23 of the Federal 

Rules of Civil Procedure and Plaintiff’s counsel as Class Counsel; 

(b) Awarding compensatory damages in favor of Plaintiff and the other Class 

members against all Defendants, jointly and severally, for all damages sustained as a result of 

Defendants’ wrongdoing, in an amount to be proven at trial, including interest thereon; 

(c) Awarding Plaintiff and the Class their reasonable costs and expenses incurred in 

this action, including counsel fees and expert fees; and  

(d) Such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper. 

JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 

 Plaintiff hereby demands a trial by jury. 

Dated: February 17, 2015     Respectfully submitted, 
 

THE ROSEN LAW FIRM, P.A. 
 
 
/s/ Phillip Kim     
Phillip Kim, Esq. (pro hac vice) 
Laurence M. Rosen, Esq. 
Kevin Chan, Esq. 
275 Madison Ave, 34th Floor 
New York, NY  10016 
Telephone: (212) 686-1060 
Fax: (212) 202-3827 
lrosen@rosenlegal.com 
pkim@rosenlegal.com 
kchan@rosenlegal.com 
 
and 
 
HEFFNER & HURST 
Matthew T. Heffner 
30 North LaSalle Street 
Twelfth Floor 
Chicago, Illinois  60602 
Telephone: (312) 346-3466 

Case: 1:14-cv-07837 Document #: 25 Filed: 02/17/15 Page 38 of 40 PageID #:163



39 

Fax: (312) 346-2829 
mheffner@shhllp.com 
 
Counsel for Plaintiff 

  

Case: 1:14-cv-07837 Document #: 25 Filed: 02/17/15 Page 39 of 40 PageID #:164



40 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE BY ELECTRONIC MEANS 

I, Phillip Kim, one of the attorneys for plaintiffs, hereby certify that on February 17, 
2015, service of the foregoing AMENDED COMPLAINT FOR VIOLATION OF THE 
FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS was accomplished pursuant to ECF as to Filing Users and I 
shall comply with LR 5.5 as to any party who is not a Filing User or represented by a Filing 
User. 
 

 

/s/ Phillip Kim   
Phillip Kim 
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